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Corporate Profile
GobiMin Inc. is a Canadian junior mining company engaged in acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties,
predominately base metals.
In light of the financial crisis, in November 2008 GobiMin made the decision to sell its two Chinese operating subsidiaries which
held its main nickel/copper assets in Hami of the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region (“Xinjiang”) of the People’s Republic of
China (“China”). Following the completion of the sale in February 2009, the Company emerged with a very strong financial
position which will enable it to take advantage of opportunities in the mining sector.
GobiMin still owns 5 base metals projects in Hami, Xinjiang. The most advanced project is the 40% owned Yanxi Copper
Deposit. An initial NI 43-101 compliant technical report was released in October 2008 and estimated in-situ metal of
approximately 254 million pounds of copper in Indicated Mineral Resources with a further 160 million pounds in Inferred Mineral
Resources. GobiMin is continuing work towards the potential development of this project.
Our vision is to maximize shareholder value through the development of existing projects, the acquisition of advanced
exploration projects and producing mines.
GobiMin’s common shares are traded on the TSX-Venture Exchange under the symbol GMN.
* All dollar amounts are in United States Dollars and units of measurement are metric unless otherwise stated.

GobiMin Highlights
2008 REVIEW
Jan

New discovery of north-west extension of Lens #30 at Yellow Mountain

Feb

Announced normal course issuer bid to repurchase up to 5% of the outstanding common shares
(3,673,225 shares) of GobiMin

July

Completed pre-IPO transactions of the Chinese subsidiary, Yakesi
Decided to postpone Yakesi’s IPO due to the deteriorating IPO market conditions in China

August

Received updated NI 43-101 compliant mineral resource estimate for Yellow Mountain Deposit with
increased in-situ Ni & Cu by almost 100%

October
November

Announced discovery and the 1st drilling results at Yanxi Copper Project
Announced initial NI 43-101 compliant resources estimate for Yanxi
Suspended construction work at Yellow Mountain Deposit and started strategic review
Entered into Definitive Agreements to sell Yakesi and Jubao, which held Yellow Mountain East Mine,
Xiangshan Mine and Yellow Mountain Deposit in Hami, Xinjiang
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“GobiMin has a strong
financial position with
US$87.5 million in cash
as at April 16, 2009”
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IN EARLY 2009
• Renewed the normal course issuer bid to repurchase up to an additional 3,516,220 common shares, representing 5% of
the outstanding common shares of GobiMin
• Received full payment of the proceeds on sale of the two Chinese subsidiaries which held the nickel-copper properties in
Hami and held a cash balance of about CAD$106.5 million (US$87.5 million) as at April 16, 2009
• Declared an annual dividend of CAD$0.01 per share for 2008 in accordance with the dividend policy and a special dividend
of CAD$0.07 per share following the sale of two Chinese operating subsidiaries

OBJECTIVES FOR 2009
• Advance exploration in Yanxi Copper Project
• Review feasibility of development of the Yanxi Copper Project
• Continue exploration in other exploration projects in Xinjiang of China
• Search for opportunistic acquisitions of high quality exploration and mining projects in China and overseas
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Message to Shareholders
Dear Shareholders,
Industries across the board in the entire world are facing the most challenging time ever and GobiMin is no exception. However,
we are confident that GobiMin not only will survive but thrive in such global financial crisis. Our entrepreneurship spirit,
management strength coupled with our financial resources will make us stronger in the aftermath of the financial crisis.
2008 was a busy year with significant accomplishments achieved. Our mining operations reached record level of 110,705
tonnes of ore processed in the second quarter. Exploration and development projects also made good progress. We received
an initial NI 43-101 compliant Mineral Resource Estimate with impressive results for the exploration project, Yanxi Copper. We
will focus on studying the potential development of the Yanxi Copper project.

Due to our proximity to the world’s largest nickel consumers, we felt before others that the impact of the global economic crisis
to the resources sector will be of gigantic proportions. In response to the dramatic drop of nickel and copper price, GobiMin
took a timely and prudent step to suspend the development work at Yellow Mountain Project while initiating negotiation for
potential partners and buyers. Our aggressive approach allowed us to sell, in less than 2 months, our two Chinese operating
subsidiaries which held three nickel-copper properties in Xinjiang, China. On hindsight, our decision was timely and the price
extracted an excellent value for our shareholders as a few weeks later scores of nickel companies around the world announced
the cut backs or shut down of nickel productions.
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The sale of our two Chinese operating subsidiaries realised a total cash consideration of CAD$87.9 million. In addition, GobiMin
was paid back loans as well as final dividend in cash. It was a difficult decision for the founders of GobiMin to sell its core
assets. However, it is our belief that the winners of this unprecedented carnage will be those capable of taking advantage of
the tremendous opportunities in the current market conditions. We are looking for the next opportunity and not clinging to the
splendor of past times. Currently, GobiMin has become one of the very few mining companies which are cash rich and are
willing and ready for new acquisitions.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all colleagues for the hard work this year. No achievement would be made without
their relentless efforts. More importantly, I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to you, the shareholders, for your continuing
support. Let us look forward to 2009, a year which GobiMin will keep on expanding and prospering.

“Currently,

GobiMin has become
one of the very few

which are
and ready for

mining companies

cash rich and are willing

new acquisitions.”

Felipe Tan
Chairman, President and CEO
April 16, 2009
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Operations & Projects
YANXI COPPER DEPOSIT
Background
GobiMin, through Xinjiang Weifu Mining Limited (a Chinese subsidiary), holds 40% interest in Xinjiang Tongxing Minerals Ltd.
(“Tongxing”) while two local partners each holding 30% interest. Tongxing’s only business is the exploration and development
of the Yanxi Copper Deposit.
Location & Access
The Yanxi Copper Deposit is located about 115 km southwest of Hami, a city in the eastern part of Xinjiang of China. The
Exploration Right is registered under the name of Tongxing and covers an area of 21.67 km2. The property is centered at about
92º28’ east longitude and 42º 05’ north latitude.

Location, Yanxi Copper Project

The property has a fairly good accessibility. Main routes, namely National Highway 312 and Lanxin Railway ( 蘭新鐵路 ), are
situated at about 80 km north to Yanxi property, while Hami-Luobubo Highway ( 哈 密 － 羅 布 泊 公 路 ) passes through the
property for 120 km. The nearest airport is located at Hami. This domestic airport was expanded and re-commenced operation
in December 2008 and has connecting flights to Urumqi airport, which is about 595 km west of Hami. Urumqi airport is an
international airport and has regular air service to Beijing, Shanghai and other Chinese cities. Hami City is also connected to
Urumqi by a sealed highway that is presently being upgraded. Typically, the highway is divided, with two or three lanes in each
direction. There is also a reliable passenger rail service between Urumqi and Hami City.
Geology & Mineralization
The property geology consists of three main Carboniferous rock types: basic to intermediate mafic volcanic and volcaniclastic
rocks; a unit composed of clastic sediments, tuffs and brecciated lava; and a pebbly arenite unit.
The rocks are mapped as east-west striking, steeply south-dipping and broadly southfacing units. The supracrustal rocks
are variously intruded by porphyritic diorite and granitic rocks and some mafic intrusive rocks, predominantly gabbros.
Mineralization on the property is hosted in a plagioclase porphyritic granodiorite intrusive with an irregular dike-like shape. The
intrusive is up to 200 m wide, strikes broadly east-west and dips south at about 70º.

4
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The Yanxi deposit is considered to be an example of porphyry copper deposit type and is located in a regional belt of copper
deposits. Further, the mineralization is not exposed on the Yanxi property because of the presence of Jurassic sediments
unconformably overlying mineralization.
The economic mineralization at Yanxi is predominantly hosted in the plagioclase porphyritic granodiorite intrusive.
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Long section showing drillholes & mineral resource classification, Yanxi Copper Project

NI 43-101 Resource Estimate
Based on the 31 diamond drill hole results up to 10 September 2008, GobiMin announced an initial NI 43-101 compliant
resource estimate on Yanxi Copper Project in October 2008. The estimate of the metal content is shown in the table below:
Mineral Resources – Yanxi Copper Deposit
Copper
Classification

Million Tonnes

Cu (%)

(contents)
lbs

Indicated

15.38

0.75%

254 million

Inferred

10.23

0.71%

160 million

Notes:
1. CIM definitions were followed for Mineral Resources.
2. Mineral resources which are not Mineral reserves have not demonstrated economic viability.
3. Mineral Resources are estimated at cutoff grades of 0.5% Cu.
4. Mineral Resources are estimated using an average long-term copper price of US$2.50/lb, and a US$/Cdn$ exchange rate 1.04.
5. A minimum mining width of 5 metres was used.
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Operations & Projects

OTHER JOINT VENTURES IN XINJIANG AND EXPLORATION OPPORTUNITIES
GobiMin has four joint ventures with local partners, exploring various base metal projects in Xinjiang, China. In 2008, the joint
ventures have obtained more than 33 exploration licenses for copper, nickel, lead and zinc projects in Xinjiang. The projects are
at early exploration stage while some of them had undergone reconnaissance-prospecting or reconnaissance explorations.
Mineral Mining and Exporation
GobiMin continues to pursue additional mineral mining and exploration opportunities worldwide, particularly in China. In 2009,
GobiMin plans to complete exploration drillings for some of the projects.

Xinjiang Tongde Minerals Limited
Xinjiang Xinya Minerals Limited

Urumqi

Xinjiang Tongxing Minerals Limited

XINJIANG
Wuqia

Yutian
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Qiemo

Hami City

Xinjiang Tianhong Minerals Limited

Yanxi
Copper
Project

Ruoqiang

The 4 joint ventures were formed and
hold various exploration licences for
copper, nickel, lead, zinc, etc.

GobiMin Inc.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results
For the year ended December 31, 2008
(Expressed in United States Dollars)
April 17, 2009

The following discussion and analysis of the consolidated operating results and financial condition of GobiMin Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2008 should be read in conjunction with GobiMin’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2008 and the year ended December 31, 2007. The financial information was prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”). This Management’s Discussion and Analysis was prepared on April 17, 2009.
Certain statements included in this discussion constitute forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements can often, but not
always, be identified by the use of words such as “can”, “could”, “believe”, “propose”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “consider”, “estimate”, “expect”,
or other variations of such expressions, or forward-looking statements may declare that certain measures, events or results “can”, “could”
or “will” be taken or occur or be attained. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties as well as
other factors that could cause actual results, performances or achievements of the Company to differ materially from the future results,
performances or achievements implied or suggested in such forward-looking statements. Such risks, uncertainties and other factors include
but are not limited to the risk factors discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” below. Accordingly, shareholders are cautioned not to
put undue reliance on forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this discussion and the
Company disclaims any obligations to update any forward-looking statements in order to account for any events or circumstances that
might occur after the date that such forward-looking statements were established.

1.

CORPORATE OVERVIEW
GobiMin Inc., together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to herein as the “Company” or “GobiMin”, is engaged principally in the
exploration, development and mining of mineral properties in the People’s Republic of China (“China”). The Company’s major base
metals projects are located in Hami of the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region of China (“Xinjiang”).
GobiMin, through its subsidiaries, mined nickel and copper ore from Yellow Mountain East Mine and Xiangshan Mine. Ore was
processed through two mills totalling 1,600 tonnes per day capacity to produce nickel and copper concentrates, which were then
sold to smelters in China. The Company mined and processed approximately 312,000 tonnes of ore in 2008. Due to the dramatic
decline of nickel and copper price, the Company took steps to preserve cash and suspended construction work at the Yellow
Mountain Project in October 2008. In November 2008, GobiMin reached an agreement to sell its two main operating Chinese
subsidiaries and the disposal was completed in February 2009.
GobiMin still owns a 40% interest in the newly discovered Yanxi Copper Deposit in Hami region of Xinjiang, China. The Company
received for its Yanxi Copper Deposit an initial NI 43-101 compliant Mineral Resource Estimate from Scott Wilson RPA in October
2008. The Mineral Resource Estimate showed in-situ metal of approximately 254 million pounds of copper in Indicated Mineral
Resources with a further 160 million pounds in Inferred Mineral resources.

2.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
The financial highlights in 2008 are:

Revenue
Net earnings
EBITDA(1)
Gross Margin
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
EBITDA per share(1)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents per share(1)
Cash cost per tonne of ore,
after by-product credits(1)
Annual dividend per share(2)
(1)

(2)

12 months ended
December 31,
2008

12 months ended
December 31,
2007

Changes
on
yearly basis

$21.4 million
$0.03 million
$6.3 million
44.6%
$0.00
$0.00
$0.09
$54 million
$0.76

$38.5 million
$20.4 million
$26.0 million
69.8%
$0.29
$0.28
$0.37
$22 million
$0.30

–44.3%
–99.8%
–75.9%
–36.1%
–99.8%
–99.8%
–76.4%
140.2%
150.9%

$20.32
$0.01

$14.04
$0.03

44.7%
–66.7%

As non-GAAP measurements, EBITDA, EBITDA per share, Cash and cash equivalents per share and Cash cost per tonne of ore do not comply with GAAP and,
therefore, the amounts presented in the above table may not be comparable to similar data presented by other companies. The data is intended to provide additional
information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.
The Company declared an annual dividend of CAD$0.01 per share for 2008 and a special dividend of CAD$0.07 per share following the disposal of its two Chinese
operating subsidiaries.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results
For the year ended December 31, 2008
(Expressed in United States Dollars)
April 17, 2009

3.

BUSINESS SUMMARY AND DEVELOPMENT
(a)

Completion of sale of two Chinese Operating Subsidiaries
On November 3, 2008, the Company announced that it had entered into two revocable framework agreements with Xinjiang
Xinxin Mining Industry Co., Ltd. (“Xinxin”) to dispose of its two Chinese operating subsidiaries, which held three nickel-copper
mining properties in Hami, Xinjiang (the “Transaction”). The Transaction involved the sale of GobiMin’s entire 93.55% and
95.16% respective equity interests in Xinjiang Yakesi Resources Co. Ltd. (“Yakesi”) and Hami Jubao Resources Co. Ltd. (“Jubao”)
through its wholly owned subsidiary, Alexis Investments Limited (“Alexis”).
After the completion of Xinxin’s due diligence review and audit of Yakesi and Jubao’s accounts as at October 31, 2008 and
the receipt of the applicable approvals, the Company and Xinxin finalized the terms of the Transaction and entered into two
irrevocable Sale and Purchase Agreement (the “Definitive Agreement”) on November 23, 2008. Under the Definitive Agreement,
Xinxin agreed to acquire Alexis’s equity interest in Yakesi and Jubao for a total cash consideration (the “Consideration”) of
RMB492.33 million (approximately $72 million).
During February 2009, the Transaction was approved and registered by the Chinese regulatory authority. The Consideration
was paid to the Company by February 28, 2009. Pursuant to the Definitive Agreement, Yakesi and Jubao declared a special
dividend of RMB43.89 million (approximately $6.4 million) which was paid to Alexis together with the final installment of the
Consideration. The earnings or losses of Yakesi and Jubao after November 1, 2008 belong to Xinxin. Accordingly, the losses
in November and December 2008 of approximately $1 million are reported as losses in our 2008 results in accordance
with Canadian GAAP and will be reflected as an increase in the gain on disposal in our 1st quarter results in 2009. (see the
Company’s news release of November 24, 2008).
By April 16, 2009, the Company was debt free and held approximately $87.5 million (CAD106.5 million) in cash. Most of the
cash is kept outside of China for future project opportunities and approximately $10.4 million cash is held in China to fund
existing and potential exploration projects in China.

(b)

Normal Course Issuer Bid
On February 6, 2008, the Company began a normal course issuer bid to repurchase some of its common shares on the TSX
Venture Exchange. The Company repurchased 3,236,100 common shares during the year. All shares purchased were returned
to treasury for cancellation. GobiMin has 70,324,402 shares outstanding as at December 31, 2008.
On January 23, 2009, the Company renewed its normal course issuer bid to repurchase an additional 3,516,220 common
shares over a maximum period of 12 months ending January 31, 2010. By April 16, 2009, the Company had repurchased and
cancelled a further 374,800 common shares. GobiMin now has 69,949,602 shares outstanding.

4.

KEY ECONOMIC TRENDS
(a)

Nickel
The main product sold by GobiMin was nickel concentrate, which accounted for 81% of total revenues in the year. The price
received by the Company for the nickel contained in the concentrate was calculated at a discount to the Chinese domestic
nickel cathode price (which is generally correlated to the London Metal Exchange (“LME”) nickel price). The discount reflects the
smelter and refining charges as well as recovery loss to convert concentrate into nickel cathode.
The cash settlement price of nickel on the LME averaged $13.04 per pound in 2008, compared to an average of $16.55 in
2007. The nickel price dropped significantly during Q4 of 2008 and was $4.90 on December 31, 2008. The related price chart
can be found in GobiMin’s website (www.gobimin.com).

(b)

Copper
Another product produced by GobiMin is copper concentrate, which accounted for approximately 19% of the total revenue
in the year. The price received by the Company for the copper contained in the concentrate is calculated at a discount to
the Chinese domestic copper price (which is correlated to LME copper price). The discount reflects the smelter and refining
charges as well as recovery loss to convert the concentrate into copper cathode. The cash settlement price of copper on the
LME averaged $3.15 per pound 2008, compared to $3.50 in 2007. Revenue from selling copper concentrates is treated as byproduct credits in the calculation of cash operating costs.
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(Expressed in United States Dollars)
April 17, 2009

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The Company’s accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2008. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported results. Changes to these estimates could materially impact the consolidated
financial statements. The policies and estimates made by the Company that are considered to be most critical are described below.

(a)

Revenue Recognition
Revenue from the sale of nickel concentrate is recognized when risk and title passes to the customer, the price is fixed and
determinable and collection of the proceeds is reasonably assured. The passing of title and risk occurs based on the terms
of the off-take contract. The price is based on the formula in the off-take contract that includes average listed price of the
customer and the price factor decided by the grade level of concentrate.

(b)

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method
with an estimated residual value of 0-5%. The annual depreciation or amortization rates are as follows:
Buildings: 4.75%-33.3%
Leasehold improvement: 33.3%
Production equipment: 9.5%-19%
Transportation equipment: 11.88%-25%
Other equipment: 11.88%-19%
For the new mill and shafts built in 2006, the Company used estimations of the buildings’ service lives and residual value to
calculate the depreciation expenses. Therefore buildings’ depreciation rates ranged from 4.75% to 33.3%.
Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment loss, and is not depreciated. It comprises the direct costs of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of fixed assets when completed and ready for
use.
Exploration costs are stated at cost less any impairment loss. It comprises the direct costs of exploration work on mineral
properties prior to the development. Upon commencement of commercial production of mineral properties, exploration costs
are amortized over the mine’s estimated life using the straight-line method with nil residual value.

(c)

Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company recognizes the fair value of liabilities for asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred
and in which a reasonable estimate of such costs can be made. The asset retirement obligation is recorded as a liability with
a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related asset and depreciated over the life of the asset. Over time,
the liability is increased to reflect an interest element (accretion expenses) considered in its initial measurement at fair value.
All the mine sites are in desert area in Northern China and management believes that the liability after the mine site retirement
is immaterial. The amount of the liability will be subject to re-measurement at each reporting period. It is possible that the
Company’s estimates of its ultimate mine site retirement liabilities could be changed as a result of changes in regulations,
the extent of environmental remediation required, the means of reclamation or the cost estimates. Changes in estimates are
accounted for prospectively from the period the estimate is revised.
The Company has not recorded a liability for its asset retirement obligations. Currently, the Company pays an annual
environmental fee to the local government for the cost of operating a processing plant. This fee is fixed as per the government
policy and is expensed as incurred.

(d)

Equity Investment
Investments in shares of incorporated companies, in which the Company’s ownership is greater than 20% but no more than
50% and wherever significant influence is present, are accounted for by the equity method. The Company accounts for its
investment on an equity basis, which is carried at cost, adjusted for the Company’s proportionate share of the undistributed
earnings and losses.
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For the year ended December 31, 2008
(Expressed in United States Dollars)
April 17, 2009

(e)

Proportionate Consolidation
For a venture that the Company and other parties have joint control over and share both benefits and risks, the Company
accounts for its interest in this joint venture by proportionate consolidation, whereby the Company’s pro rata share of each of
the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses that are subject to joint control is combined on a line-by-line basis with similar
items in the Company’s financial statements.

(f)

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company recognizes derivative financial instruments on a fair value basis upon initial recognition and each subsequent
reporting date. The Company has classified its non-delivery forward contract with the bank held for trading and therefore
carries it at fair value, which is equal to market value, with the unrealized gain or loss recorded in other revenue or expenses in
the Consolidated Statements of Income. Cash deposits held by the bank for the forward contract are separately disclosed as
restricted cash in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

6.

ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Effective January 1, 2008, GobiMin adopted the new and amended Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) accounting
standards related to Financial Instruments-Disclosure (section 3862), Financial Instruments-Presentation (section 3863), Inventory
(section 3031), Capital Disclosure (section 1535), and General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation (section 1400). As
required by the standards prior periods have not been restated except to reclassify the foreign currency translation adjustment as
described under Comprehensive Income and Equity.

Financial Instruments
Section 3862 “Financial Instruments-Disclosure” and Section 3863 “Financial Instruments-Presentation”, replace Section 3861
“Financial Instruments-Disclosure and Presentation”. Section 3862 Financial Instruments-Disclosure, describes the required
disclosures related to the significance of the financial instruments on the Company’s financial position and performance and the
nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the Company is exposed and how the Company manages
those risks. Section 3863 “Financial Instruments – Presentation” describes the standards for presentation of financial instruments and
non-financial derivatives and carries forward the presentation requirements of Section 3861 “Financial Instruments-Disclosure and
Presentation”.

Inventories
Section 3031 “Inventories”, which replaces Section 3030 “Inventories”, requires inventories to be measured at the “lower of cost
and net realizable value”, which is different from the existing guidance of the “lower of cost and market”. It also provides guidance
on the determination of cost and requires the reversal of any write-downs previously recognized when the net realizable value
increases subsequently. Certain minimum disclosures are required, including the accounting policies used, carrying amounts, amount
recognized as an expense, write-downs, and the amount of any reversal of any write-downs recognized as a reduction in expenses.
The adoption of these new standards did not have any impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Capital Disclosure
Section 1535 “Capital Disclosure” establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity’s capital and how it is managed.
These standards require a company to disclose their objectives, policies, and processes for managing capital along with summary
quantitative data about what it manages as capital. In addition, disclosures are to include whether companies have complied with
externally imposed capital requirements and when a company has not complied with capital requirements, the consequences of such
non-compliance.

General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation
Section 1400 “General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation” describes the requirements for management to assess an
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to disclose material uncertainties related to events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The above noted new and amended standards have no material impact on the classification and measurement in the consolidated
financial statements.
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New Canadian Accounting Pronouncements
(a)

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
In February 2008, the CICA issued Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, which replaces Section 3062 “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” and Section 3450 “Research and Development Costs”. Section 3064 establishes standards for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill subsequent to its initial recognition and of intangible assets.
The new Section will be applicable to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for its fiscal year beginning January
1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this new section on its consolidated financial
statements.

(b)

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
In January 2009, the CICA issued EIC 173 Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. This
guidance requires that an entity's own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken into account in
determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities including derivative instruments. This guidance is applicable
to the Company’s 2009 fiscal year with retrospective application without restatement of prior periods. The Company is in the
process of evaluating the impact of this new guidance.

(c)

Consolidations and Non-controlling Interests
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1601 “Consolidations” and Section 1602 “Non-controlling Interests”. CICA 1601
establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. CICA 1602 establishes standards for accounting
for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated financial statements subsequent to a business combination.
These standards are applicable to interim and annual financial statements of the Company beginning on January 1, 2011. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of these standards.

(d)

Business Combinations
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1582 “Business Combinations” replacing Section 1581 “Business Combinations”.
The new section improves the relevance, reliability and comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its
financial statements about a business combination and its effects. The section is applicable to the annual and interim financial
statements of the Company beginning on or January 1, 2011, with early adoption permitted. The Company is in the process of
evaluating the impact of this standard.

7.

INTERNAL CONTROL
Disclosure control and Procedures
The management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as at December 31,
2008 and has concluded, based on its evaluation, that these controls and procedures provide reasonable assurance that material
information relating to the Company is made known to management and reported as required.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is also responsible for the design of internal controls over financial reporting in order to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
Canadian GAAP. The management has evaluated the design of the Company’s internal controls and procedures over financial
reporting as at December 31, 2008, and believes the design to be sufficient and appropriate to provide such reasonable assurance.
However, readers should be aware that the Company maintains a lean financial department in which finance staff are cross-trained
to handle non-compatible functions in case of emergency, illness, staff turnover or other situations. This cross-training could result
in a lack of segregation of duties. Management mitigates this risk by tracking when incompatible functions are performed and
providing additional review and oversight at such times. Despite management’s best efforts, there can be no assurance that the risk
of material misstatement occurring during such periods can be reduced. Also, the Company operates primarily in the PRC, and PRC
accounting follows policies are prescribed and required by the PRC tax authorities. As the PRC accounting staff does not possess
an understanding of Canadian GAAP, reconciliation or transition of the PRC accounting policies to the Canadian GAAP are always
required. The Company is reviewing the organizational structure of the accounting group to strengthen its resources to reflect the
Company’s growth. It should be noted that while the officers of the Company have certified the Company’s Annual Filings, they do
not expect that the disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial reporting will prevent all errors and fraud.
A control system, no matter how well conceived or implemented, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met.
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8.

SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION
Selected quarterly information is provided as follows:
For the quarter ended

Revenue
Net earnings/(loss)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
For the quarter ended

Revenue
Net earnings
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

9.

December 31,
2008

September 30,
2008

June 30,
2008

March 31,
2008

$ 3,066,275
(2,955,975)
(0.041)
(0.040)
53,617,073
121,886,062

$ 7,481,856
1,150,383
0.016
0.016
34,868,732
93,967,095

$ 6,762,013
1,294,072
0.018
0.018
39,168,373
93,582,677

$ 4,137,710
543,787
0.007
0.007
44,133,344
93,340,779

December 31,
2007

September 30,
2007

June 30,
2007

March 31,
2007

$ 8,570,412
4,843,994
0.067
0.065
22,323,438
90,751,372

$ 9,940,327
5,587,909
0.076
0.075
39,959,503
69,047,946

$ 9,752,563
5,356,978
0.075
0.073
36,630,677
61,896,677

$ 10,276,582
4,605,030
0.070
0.069
22,144,099
44,617,219

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(a)

Revenues
The Company recorded in 2008 revenues of $21,447,854 compared to $38,539,884 in 2007. Revenue for nickel concentrate
and copper concentrate were $17,261,538 and $4,186,316 respectively, compared to $33,911,624 and $4,628,260
respectively in 2007. The lower nickel revenue was mainly due to lower production volume and lower realized nickel price on a
year over year basis.
Other revenues in 2008 were $1,405,407 (2007: $2,219,118) including $758,528 interest income. The remaining revenues
were from sales of oil and materials to contractors for mining operation and subsidies from government.
The Company sold 2,456,000 pounds of nickel and 1,517,000 pounds of copper in 2008, compared with 3,262,000 pounds
and 1,616,000 pounds respectively in 2007. The mills processed 312,388 tonnes (2007: 328,148 tonnes) of ore with a nickel
head grade of 0.45% (2007: 0.495%) and recoveries amounting to 83.7% (2007: 84.3%).
Average realized price for nickel concentrate and copper concentrate in 2008 was $7.03 per pound and $2.76 per pound
respectively, compared to $10.4 and $2.77 respectively in 2007.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s production and revenue information for the periods:
12 Months ended
December 31, 2008

12 Months ended
December 31, 2007

312,388
294,926

328,148
354,232

0.45%
83.7%

0.495%
84.3%

2,456
1,517

3,262
1,616

Metal contained in concentrate sold ($)
Nickel
Copper and others

$17,261,538
$4,186,316

$33,911,624
$4,628,260

Total Revenue

$21,447,854

$38,539,884

$7.03
$2.76

$10.40
$2.77

$2.44
$20.32

$1.53
$14.04

Mining Operations

Ore (tonnes)
Processed
Sold
Nickel grade of ore
Metallurgical recovery
Metal contained in concentrate (’000 pounds)
Nickel
Copper

Average realized price of nickel contained in concentrate (per pound)
Average realized price of copper contained in concentrate (per pound)
Average cash cost per pound of nickel contained in concentrate,
net of by-product credits (1)
Average cash cost per tonne of ore, net of by-product credits (1)
(1)

(b)

Cash cost is a non-GAAP measure, which excludes depreciation and asset write-off, and includes mining, milling, haulage and sales and distribution costs,
after deducting the copper, gold and silver revenue.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales amounted to $9,435,294 ($31.99 per tonne of ore) in 2008 compared to $8,933,764 ($25.22 per tonne of ore)
in 2007. Cost of sales includes the costs of mining, milling, haulage from mine sites to the mill and resource tax to the local
government. The cost per tonne of ore increased due to the inflation of labour and materials and appreciation of RMB against
US dollar.
The selling and distribution cost was $2.52 per tonne of ore, increasing from $1.89 a year ago. This cost is incurred for the rail
and truck transportation of concentrates to the customers’ smelter sites. By-product credit increased from previous $13.07 to
$14.19 in current year. Overall the cash operating cost was $20.32 per tonne of ore, increasing by $6.28.
The cash cost per pound of nickel increased to $2.44 from $1.53 in 2007 because the average nickel grade was down to 0.45%
from 0.495%.
Cash cost figure, a non-GAAP measure, represents the total of all cash costs directly attributable to the related mining and
milling operations after the deduction of credits with respect to by-product sales. The Company produces separate nickel
and copper concentrates. Disclosure of cash cost by the Company may not be directly comparable to other nickel producers
and is only intended to provide investors with information about the cash generating capacity of the mining operations of the
Company.
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The following table presents the calculation of cash operating cost per tonne of ore sold:
12 Months Ended
December 31, 2007

12 Months Ended
December 31, 2008

Cost of sales (1)
Selling and distribution cost
By-product credits:
Copper, gold and silver

$
9,435,294
744,445

$/tonne
31.99
2.52

$
8,933,764
669,990

$/tonne
25.22
1.89

(4,186,316)

(14.19)

(4,628,260)

(13.07)

Cash operating cost

5,993,423

20.32

4,975,494

14.04

(1)

(c)

Cost of sales excludes depreciation and write-off of mine construction cost.

Other expenses
Depreciation expense was $1,695,248 compared to $2,037,189 in 2007. Most of capital expenditure was invested into Yellow
Mountain project as construction into progress.
General and administrative expenses incurred in this year were $5,508,060 compared to $4,686,560 in 2007, as a result of
increased staff cost and appreciation of RMB against US dollar.
In 2008, the Company granted 1,267,000 options to its directors, employees and external consultants at exercise prices
between $1.06 to $3.44 vested in several schedules over the next five years. The amortized portion of total stock based
compensation in 2008 increased to $1,502,495 (2007: $1,098,217) accordingly.
The $148,116 other operating expenses includes donations of $67,664 to the local government for supporting earthquake area
and local farmers and $66,795 of local duties.

(d)

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share for 2008 were $0.00 (2007: basic earnings per share of $0.29) and diluted earnings per share were
$0.00 (2007: diluted earnings per share of $0.28).

(e)

EBITDA
In 2008, earnings before interest income and expense, income taxes, stock-based compensation, write-off expense,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), a non-GAAP performance measure, were $6.3 million as compared to $26 million in
2007.
The following table presents the calculation of EBITDA for the periods indicated:
12 Months ended
December 31, 2008

12 Months ended
December 31, 2007

Net earnings
Interest income
Interest expense
Income tax
Depreciation
Amortization in general and administration expenses
Stock based compensation
Write-off of assets and Write-down of inventory
Non-controlling interest

$32,267
(758,528)
585,780
903,791
1,695,248
415,478
1,502,495
2,019,382
(121,323)

$20,393,911
(708,190)
16,699
1,873,592
2,037,189
326,510
1,098,217
44,340
937,479

EBITDA (1)
EBITDA per share (2)

6,274,590
0.09

26,019,747
0.37

(1)

(2)
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As a non-GAAP measurement, EBITDA does not comply with GAAP and, therefore, the amount presented in the above table may not be comparable to
similar data presented by other companies. The data is intended to provide additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.
Based on weighted average number of shares outstanding, a non-GAAP measure
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(f)

Income tax
Yakesi, a Chinese subsidiary of the Company, is subject to corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2008. Yakesi is eligible for an
exemption from 3% regional tax rate and a 50% relief from the 30% state tax rate in China until 2010. The Company also owns
95.16% interest of Jubao, another operating subsidiary. Jubao enjoys a two-year income tax holiday starting from 2007 and
then be subject to corporate income tax rate of 15% in the next three years. China has introduced a new tax law effective at
the beginning of 2008 to unify the application, scope, tax rate and tax deductions for both foreign enterprises and domestic
enterprises. The new law will only be applicable to Yakesi and Jubao after the expiry of their current tax policy. The Company
has not recognized any tax benefit for losses incurred in Canada and Hong Kong as management has determined that it is
likely that these tax assets will not be recovered.
In November 2008, Yakesi and Jubao declared a special dividend of RMB43.89 million (approximately $6.3 million). The
Company recorded $330,312 withholding tax expenses according to China’s new tax regulation on paying dividend to foreign
shareholders.

(g)

Annual and Special dividend
On April 16, 2009, the Company declared an annual dividend of CAD$0.01 ($0.01) per share for 2008 in accordance with the
Company’s dividend policy and a special dividend of CAD$0.07 ($0.06) per share following the disposal of its two Chinese
operating subsidiaries. Both dividends are payable on June 5, 2009 to shareholders of record on May 15, 2009.

10. LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The following table summarizes the Company’s consolidated cash flows and cash on hand for the year ended December 31, 2008:

Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital (1)

Net Cash from operating activities
Net Cash from (used in) financing activities
Net Cash from (used in) investing activities
(1)

December 31, 2008

December 31, 2007

$53,617,073
$65,219,635

$22,323,438
$66,973,736

12 Months ended
December 31, 2008

12 Months ended
December 31, 2007

$15,362,617
($17,094,038)
$13,395,904

$23,654,536
$25,182,139
($20,586,462)

Working capital is a non-GAAP measurement, which is the difference between current assets and current liabilities.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are not exposed to repayment risks associated with asset-backed commercial paper
market.

(a)

Operating activities
In 2008, net cash from operating activities was $15,362,617 compared to $23,654,536 in 2007. Cash flow from the operations
was lower due to lower profit, offsetting by higher non-cash expenses.

(b)

Financing activities
Financing activities used cash flow of $17,094,038 (2007: generated $25,182,139) in 2008. The Company spent $3.5 million to
buy back and cancel 3,236,100 shares during this year. The Company also paid off $11 million bank loan and paid $2.2 million
dividend based on 2007 financial performance.

(c)

Investing activities
Investing activities generated $13,395,904 of cash in 2008 compared to $20,586,462 in 2007. The Company received $36
million deposit from Xinxin in connection with the sale of interest in Yakesi and Jubao. The Company spent approximately $21
million (including $2.5 million in the form of deposits for equipment and prepayment to contractors) in capital expenditures
for Yellow Mountain Deposit development, including the mine design, shaft sinking, building infrastructure and purchasing
equipments.
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11. BALANCE SHEET
(a) Cash
The Company had $53,617,073 in cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 2008 compared to $22,323,438 as
at December 31, 2007. After completing the sale of interests in Yakesi and Jubao in February 2009, the Company holds
approximately $87.5 million in cash.

(b)

Share Capital
As at December 31, 2008, the Company had 70,324,402 common shares issued and outstanding. During this year, 3,236,100
common shares were bought back and cancelled and 96,000 common shares were issued for the exercise of options by
employees.
During 2008, GobiMin granted 1,267,000 options at exercise prices between $1.06 to $3.44, among which 840,000 options
exercisable until August 24, 2011 were granted to directors, 362,000 options exercisable until August 24, 2013 were granted
to employees, 50,000 options were granted to an external consultant exercisable until January 31, 2009 and 15,000 options
were granted to another consulting firm exercisable until May 31, 2011.

12. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENT
As at December 31, 2008, there were approximately $24,152,667 (2007: $24,969,599) capital commitments that the Company’s
subsidiaries had contracted for, but not provided for. The commitments are for the sinking of the shafts, mine design, exploration,
equipments, water and electricity supply and other facilities. All the commitments belong to discontinuing operations and are no
longer the Company’s obligations following the sale of such subsidiaries in February 2009.
The Company entered into a purchase agreement to buy lead ore in the amount of $8,000,000 (2007: $ nil) for trading purpose. A
deposit of $234,000 was paid as at December 31, 2008 with respect to this purchase commitment. During 2008, there was no lead
ore delivered by the seller and the seller did not deliver the lead ore when the purchase agreement expired in January 2009. The
purchase commitment no longer exists after the agreement expired in January 2009.
The Company has approximately $23,620 (2007: $25,905) monthly office rental expense in its Hong Kong and Canada offices.

13. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

14. FOURTH QUARTER 2008 REVIEW
For the three months ended December 31, 2008, the Company reported net losses of $2,955,975 (Q4 2007: $4,843,994 net
earnings) on revenue of $3,066,275 (Q4 2007: $8,570,412). This is mainly due to lower nickel price, production slow down to cope
with the Company’s plan to sell its interests in the two operating subsidiaries and approximately $2 million write-off of exploration
assets and uncollectable receivables and write-down of year-end inventory. The earnings or losses of the two operating subsidiaries
after November 1, 2008 belong to Xinxin. Accordingly, the losses in November and December 2008 of approximately $1 million are
reported as losses in our 2008 results in accordance with Canadian GAAP and will be reflected as an increase in the gain on disposal
in our 1st quarter results in 2009 (see the Company’s news release on November 24, 2008).
General and administrative expenses totaled $1,655,214 (Q4 2007: $1,726,563) in the fourth quarter of 2008. The Company also
recorded a non-cash expense of $314,890 (Q4 2007: $415,004) for stock based compensation and $2,253,382 (2007: $44,340)
asset write-off and inventory write-down expenses.

15. RISK FACTORS
The mining business conducted by the Company is subject to a number of risks, including those outlined below. These risk factors
could materially affect the Company’s future operating results and could cause actual events to differ materially from those described
in the forward-looking statements relating to the Company. Readers should also be aware that there are particular risks of doing
business in China, some of which are outlined below.

(a)

Metal prices
The profitability of the Company may be significantly affected by changes in the market price of metals. Metal prices fluctuate
on a daily basis and are affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company. Interest rates, inflation, exchange
rates and world supply of mineral commodities can all cause fluctuations in the market prices for these metals. Such external
economic factors are in turn influenced by changes in international economic growth patterns and political developments.
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The Company may apply its free cash balances to metal trading operations. These transactions are by their very nature
speculative and could result in GobiMin suffering financial losses.

(b)

Currency risks
The Company’s operating expenses and revenues from operations are in RMB, the main currency used by the Company.
Currently, the RMB is linked to the US dollar by exchange rates managed through China’s central bank. Accordingly, exchange
rate fluctuations with the RMB may adversely affect the Company’s financial position and operating results. In the last year,
the RMB has been appreciating against the US dollar. The Company does not currently engage in foreign currency hedging
activities.
Under current regulations, there is no restriction on foreign exchange conversion of the RMB on the current account, although
any foreign exchange transaction on the capital account is subject to prior approval from the State Administration of Foreign
Exchange (“SAFE”) or review by the payment bank in accordance with regulations issued by SAFE. However, even on the
current account the RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Foreign invested enterprises in China are allowed to repatriate
profit to their foreign parents or pay outstanding current account obligations in foreign exchange but must present the proper
documentation to a designated foreign exchange bank in order to do so. There is no guarantee that foreign exchange control
policies will not be changed so as to require government approval to convert RMB into foreign currency on the current account.
These limitations could affect the ability of the Company to obtain foreign exchange through debt or equity financing, or to
obtain foreign exchange for capital expenditures.

(c)

Exploration, development and operating risks
The exploration and development of mineral deposits involves significant financial risks over a significant period of time, which
even with a combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not be eliminated. Few properties that are
explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Major expenditures may be required to establish mineral reserves
through drilling, to develop metallurgical processes and to develop the mining and processing facilities and infrastructure at any
site chosen for mining. No assurance can be given that minerals will be discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial
operations or that funds required for development can be obtained on a timely basis. The economic viability of a mineral deposit
depends on many factors, including size, grade, cost of operations, metal prices, cost of processing equipment, continuing
access to smelter facilities on acceptable terms, government regulations, land tenure, and environmental protection. The exact
effect of these factors cannot be measured but the combinations of these factors may impact the success of the Company’s
mineral exploration, development and acquisition activities. Even after the commencement of mining operations, such
operations may be subject to risks and hazards such as environmental hazards, industrial accidents, cave-ins, rock bursts,
unusual or unexpected geological formations, ground control problems and flooding. The occurrence of any of the foregoing
could result in damage to or destruction of mineral properties and production facilities, personal injuries, environmental damage,
delays or interruptions of production, increases in production costs, monetary losses, legal liability and adverse government
action.
It is not always possible to obtain insurance against all such risks and the Company may decide not to insure against certain
risks because of high premiums or other reasons. Should such liabilities arise, they could reduce or eliminate any further
profitability and result in increasing costs and a decline in the value of the securities of the Company. The Company does not
maintain insurance against political or environmental risks.
The Company’s properties are generally located in Hami region, a sector which has in the past experienced seismic activity of
six to seven on the Richter scale. Therefore, planning for mines and infrastructures must consider seismicity in the design.
The development of mining properties has inherent risks. The Company may not have sufficient technical or financial resources
to complete the projects. Costs over-runs are common in mining projects and may pose a risk for the Company.

(d)

Uncertainty of ore reserve and resource estimates
For some of its properties, the Company may prepare its own mineral reserves and resources estimate only in accordance with
the former China Ministry of Geological and Mineral Resources (“CMGMR”) classification system. The CMGMR classification
system is not compliant with the Canadian Securities Administrators National Instrument 43-101. These figures are only
estimates and there cannot be any assurance given that the estimated mineral reserves and resources will be recovered or
that they will be recovered at the rates estimated. Mineral reserve and resource estimates have been determined based upon
assumed commodity prices and operating costs. These factors may in the future render certain mineral reserves and resources
unproductive and may ultimately result in a significant reduction in reserves and resources.
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(e)

Capital requirements
The Company does have limited financial resources. Although the Company believes it will be able to fund the development of
its mineral properties through internally generated cash flow, existing working capital, and a combination of debt and equity,
there can be no assurance the Company will be able to raise additional funding if needed. Failure to obtain such additional
funding could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of the exploration and development of some of the Company’s
properties.

(f)

Risks relating to conducting business in China
The business operations of the Company are located in, and the revenues of the company are derived from activities in, China.
Accordingly, the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company could be significantly and adversely
affected by economic, political and social changes in China. Generally, China demonstrates favourable policies towards foreign
investments. However, there is no guarantee that current policy trends and the existing economic policy of China will not be
changed. A change in policies in China could adversely affect the Company.

(g)

Dependence on Key Managerial Employee
The success of the Company is highly dependent upon the continued services of a small number of key managerial employees
both in Canada and China, including Mr. Felipe Tan, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Mr. Zhang Ming, a
Director of the Company and General Manager of the Chinese subsidiary. The Company does not currently maintain key-man
life insurance policies on any member of management. Accordingly, the loss of any of these executives could have a material
adverse effect on the Company.

(h)

Competition
There is significant and increasing competition within the mining industry for the discovery and acquisition of properties
considered having commercial potential. The Company competes with other mining companies, some of which have greater
financial resources, and as a result, the Company may not be able to acquire mineral interests on terms it considers acceptable.
As well, the Company competes for the recruitment and retention of qualified employees and other personnel. The current
economic growth in China and the corresponding creation of a more liquid market for skilled employees may lead to future
problems in retaining local Chinese management. As a result of this competition, the Company may not be able to acquire
additional mineral interests and hire or retain qualified personnel for its projects.

16. OUTLOOK
Following the disposal of its two Chinese operating subsidiaries, which held three nickel-copper mining properties in Hami of Xinjiang,
China in February 2009, GobiMin is now in a strong financial position to develop its existing and potential projects. The Company’s
objective is to make opportunistic acquisitions in this environment where excellent projects abound. In the meantime, the Company
may apply its free cash to metal trading operations.
Management will continue exploration of the Yanxi Copper Project in view to develop this property at an opportunistic time.
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Auditors’ Report
Ernst & Young LLP
Pacific Centre
700 W. Georgia St., P.O. Box 10101
Vancouver, BC V7Y 1C7
Tel: (604) 891-8200
Fax: (604) 643-5422
www.ey.com

To the Shareholders of
GobiMin Inc.
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of GobiMin Inc. as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows
for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Vancouver, Canada,
March 30, 2009.
except as to Note 28.3, which is as of April 16, 2009

Chartered Accountants
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GobiMin Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

ASSETS

December 31, 2008

December 31, 2007

$

$

53,617,073

22,323,438

489,960

–

Current
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5)
Restricted cash (Note 6)
Prepayments and other receivables
Assets of discontinuing operations (Note 4)
Total current assets
Mineral properties (Note 7)
Equity investments (Note 8)
Due from related parties (Note 10)
Total assets

671,055

409,659

63,759,808

63,507,622

118,537,896

86,240,719

278,258

1,535,434

2,609,494

1,704,164

460,414

1,271,055

121,886,062

90,751,372

LIABILITIES
Current
Accounts payable

–

11,944

Due to related parties

–

36,478

Other payables and accrued liabilities

452,052

724,702

36,082,093

–

94,015

–

Liabilities of discontinuing operations (Note 4)

16,690,101

18,493,859

Total current liabilities

53,318,261

19,266,983

Total liabilities

53,318,261

19,266,983

1,199,154

1,677,393

29,918,738

31,195,252

5,398,535

4,029,197

Deposits received (Note 16)
Derivative financial instrument liabilities (Note 15)

Non-controlling interests (Note 11)
Commitments (Note 21)
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (Note 19a)
Contributed surplus (Note 19b)
Reserves (Note 20)
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 24)
Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

–

6,144,537

26,631,480

24,024,559

5,419,894

4,413,451

67,368,647

69,806,996

121,886,062

90,751,372

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPROVED BY THE BOARD




Felipe Tan
Director
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Hubert Marleau
Director

GobiMin Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

2008

2007

$

$

Revenue

21,447,854

38,539,884

Cost of sales

(9,435,294)

(8,933,764)

Depreciation

(1,695,248)

(2,037,189)

(744,445)

(669,990)

Gross Profit

9,572,867

26,898,941

Other revenue (Note 12)

1,405,407

2,219,118

General and administrative expenses

(5,508,060)

(4,686,560)

Stock based compensation (Note 19c)

(1,502,495)

(1,098,217)

(6,116)

(446,291)

(1,443,521)

(44,340)

Selling and distribution cost

Equity loss in investment (Note 8)
Write-off of assets (Note 13)
Write-down of inventory (Note 14)

(575,861)

–

Other operating expenses

(148,116)

(348,727)

1,794,105

22,493,924

Operating Profit
Dilution gain

–

727,757

(585,780)

(16,699)

(94,015)

–

Exchange loss

(299,575)

–

Earnings before tax and non-controlling interests

814,735

23,204,982

Income tax (Note 18)

(903,791)

(1,873,592)

Earnings (Losses) before non-controlling interests

(89,056)

21,331,390

Non-controlling interests (Note 11)

121,323

(937,479)

32,267

20,393,911

Basic earnings per share (Note 19e)

0.00

0.29

Diluted earnings per share (Note 19e)

0.00

0.28

Interest expense
Loss on change in fair value of financial instruments (Note 15)

Net earnings for the year

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (Note 19e)

72,366,206

70,818,860

Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding (Note 19e)

73,342,831

72,283,646

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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GobiMin Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

2008

2007

Net income
Unrealized exchange gain on translation of self-sustaining foreign operations

$
32,267
1,006,443

$
20,393,911
4,158,816

Comprehensive income

1,038,710

24,552,727

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

2007

$

$

Share Capital
Balance at beginning of year
Share buy back
Issued for option exercise
Issued for warrant exercise
Issued for private placement

31,195,252
(1,374,980)
98,466
–
–

16,053,320
–
1,608,174
2,629,122
10,904,636

Balance at end of year

29,918,738

31,195,252

Contributed Surplus
Balance at beginning of year
Options & warrants exercised
Share buy back
Stock based compensation

4,029,197
(37,577)
(95,580)
1,502,495

3,645,606
(714,626)
–
1,098,217

Balance at end of year

5,398,535

4,029,197

Reserves
Balance at beginning of year
Transfer to Retained Earnings
Current year reserves (Note 20)

6,144,537
(6,144,537)
–

2,765,919
–
3,378,618

–

6,144,537

Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year
Net income
Tax refund on capital transactions (Note 22)
Charge from share buy back
Transfer from (to) general reserve (Note 20)
Dividend paid (Note 17)

24,024,559
32,267
681,444
(2,077,130)
6,144,537
(2,174,197)

7,789,146
20,393,911
–
–
(3,378,618)
(779,880)

Balance at end of year

26,631,480

24,024,559

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Balance at beginning of year
Other comprehensive income (Note 24)

4,413,451
1,006,443

254,635
4,158,816

Balance at end of year

5,419,894

4,413,451

Balance at end of year

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22

2008

GOBIMIN INC • Annual Report 2008

GobiMin Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

2008

2007

$
32,267

$
20,393,911

1,695,248
415,478
1,502,495
94,015
299,575
1,443,521
575,861
6,116
–
–
(121,323)

2,037,189
326,510
1,098,217
–
–
44,340
–
446,291
(727,757)
(992,734)
937,479

5,943,253

23,563,446

631,184
345,753
(1,090,641)
1,538,009
648,206
(126,423)
7,660,119
(186,843)

77,457
(1,354,635)
285,729
34,356
–
81,336
1,746,294
(779,447)

Net cash from operating activities

15,362,617

23,654,536

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities:
Shares issued for cash from warrant and option exercise
Shares issued for cash from private placement
Shares buy-back
Share issue cash costs
Cash contributed by minority shareholders
Bank loan
Loan to investee company
Dividend paid

57,636
–
(3,460,255)
–
–
(11,517,222)
–
(2,174,197)

3,734,707
11,797,706
–
(893,070)
1,459,991
10,519,579
(656,894)
(779,880)

Net cash from (used in) financing activities

(17,094,038)

25,182,139

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Deposit received on disposal of interests in subsidiaries
Mineral properties
Change on construction payables
Due from related parties
Acquisition of equity interest from minority shareholder
Proceeds from disposition of equity interest of subsidiary
Tax refund on capital transactions
Short term bank deposit
Margin deposit for futures trading
Equity investments in joint ventures
Financing for employee benefits
Restricted cash
Long term prepaids

35,913,420
(18,498,571)
(909,116)
–
–
–
681,444
–
–
(771,020)
–
(487,670)
(2,532,583)

–
(12,083,970)
(543,919)
(1,229,076)
(950,312)
1,601,786
–
1,051,958
243,330
(1,711,378)
29,020
–
(6,993,901)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities

13,395,904

(20,586,462)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes on cash
Cash in the discontinuing operations at end of year
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

11,664,483
(1,355,121)
(2,317,225)
45,624,936

28,250,213
2,233,389
(23,301,498)
15,141,334

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

53,617,073

22,323,438

758,528
(655,563)
(758,605)

763,928
(16,699)
(2,728,957)

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities
Net earnings for the year
Adjustments for items not involving cash:
– Depreciation
– Amortization in general and administrative expenses
– Stock based compensation
– Loss on change in fair value of financial instruments
– Exchange loss
– Write-off of assets
– Write-down of inventory
– Equity loss in investment
– Dilution gain on issuing subsidiary’s shares
– Gain on subsidiary’s equity disposition
– Non-controlling interests
Change in non-cash working capital items:
– Accounts receivable
– Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
– Inventories
– Accounts payable
– Due from related parties
– Due to related parties
– Other payables and accrued liabilities
– Tax payable

Supplementary cash flow information:
Interest received
Interest paid
Income tax paid
See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GOBIMIN INC • Annual Report 2008

23

GobiMin Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS
GobiMin Inc. together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to herein as the “Company” or “GobiMin”, is engaged in the exploration,
development and exploitation of mineral properties in Hami of the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region of the People’s Republic of China
(“China”) through its operating Chinese subsidiaries, Xinjiang Yakesi Resources Co. Ltd (“Yakesi”) and Hami Jubao Resources Co. Ltd
(“Jubao”). The Company owns 93.55% (2007: 93.55%) of Yakesi and 95.16% (2007: 95.16%) of Jubao.
The ore being mined by Yakesi and Jubao is predominately nickel and copper. It then processes the ore through their processing plants
to produce nickel and copper concentrates. The concentrates are sold in China. In November 2008, GobiMin entered into sales and
purchase agreements to sell all its equity interest in Yakesi and Jubao. Operations of Yakesi and Jubao were therefore under disposal.
The disposal was completed in February 2009 (see note 28.2).
In 2006, GobiMin formed a joint venture, Xinjiang Xinya Minerals Ltd. (“Xinya”). The Company owns 50% equity interest in Xinya. The joint
venture is engaged in exploration of zinc and copper projects in Xinjiang region. GobiMin also owns, through Yakesi, 30% equity interest
in Dazi PuXiong Copper Company Limited (“PuXiong”), which is engaged in exploration, mining and milling of copper and zinc resources
in Tibet, China.
In 2007, GobiMin formed four joint ventures, Xinjiang Tongde Minerals Ltd (“Tongde”), Xinjiang Tongxing Minerals Ltd (“Tongxing”),
Xinjiang Tongan Minerals Ltd (“Tongan”) and Xinjiang Tianhong Minerals Ltd (“Tianhong”), to engage in exploration of nickel, copper, lead
and zinc projects in Xinjiang region. GobiMin owns 40% in each of those four joint ventures. GobiMin holds 65% controlling interest in
PT. Gobi Sulawesi Resources (“PT Gobi”), to engage in exploration projects in Indonesia.

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles under the following policies:

a)

Principles of Consolidation:
These consolidated financial statements include accounts of GobiMin and all of its subsidiaries. All significant inter-company
transactions and balances are eliminated.

b)

Foreign currency translation:
The Company’s self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries are translated using the current rate method. The assets and liabilities of
foreign subsidiaries are translated into US dollars at year-end exchange rates. Revenue and expenses are translated into US
dollars at the average exchange rates of the period. The resulting translation difference is included in the accumulated other
comprehensive income account. The Company’s integrated foreign subsidiaries are translated using the temporal method.
Monetary assets and liabilities of such foreign subsidiaries are translated into US dollars at year-end exchange rates. Non
monetary assets and liabilities are translated into US dollars at historical rates. Revenue and expenses are translated into US
dollars at the average exchange rates of the period. The resulting translation difference is included in the operation results.

c)

Cash and cash-equivalents:
Cash and cash-equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid money market instruments with maturities of three months or less.

d)

Mineral properties:
Included in mineral properties are property, plant and equipment and exploration costs.
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method
with an estimated residual value of 0-5%. The annual depreciation or amortization rates are as follows:
Buildings:
Leasehold improvement:
Production equipment:
Transportation equipment:
Other equipment:

4.75%-33.3%
33.3%
9.5%-19%
11.88%-25%
11.88%-19%

For the new mill plant and shafts, the Company used estimations of the buildings’ service lives and residual value to calculate the
depreciation expenses. The range of buildings’ depreciation rates is from 4.75% to 33.3%.
Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment loss, and is not depreciated. It comprises the direct costs of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of fixed assets when completed and ready for
use.
Exploration costs are stated at cost less any impairment loss. It comprises the direct costs of exploration work on mineral
properties prior to the development. Upon commencement of commercial production of mineral properties, exploration costs are
amortized over the mine’s estimated life using the straight-line method with nil residual value.
Mineral properties are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and any impairment losses. The cost of mining rights is
amortized on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5-10 years. Mineral properties are tested for impairment
whenever events or circumstances indicate that a carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be
recognized when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the estimated undiscounted cash flows used in determining the fair
value of the assets. The amount of the impairment loss is calculated by the excess of the assets carrying value over its fair value.
Fair value is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

e)

Inventories:
Raw materials are valued at the lower of cost, determined on first-in, first-out basis, and net realizable value. Work in progress and
finished goods are valued at the lower of manufacturing cost and net realizable value. Manufacturing cost includes the cost of raw
materials, direct labour and applicable production overheads, excluding borrowing costs, based on normal operating capacity.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

f)

Income taxes:
The Company uses the liability method of tax allocation for accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method of tax
allocation, future tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax basis
of assets and liabilities and are measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse. The amount of future income tax assets recognized is limited to the amount that is more likely
than not to be recognized.

g)

Stock based compensation expense:
The fair value of stock options is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. This model requires
the input of a number of assumptions, including expected dividend yields, expected stock price volatility, expected time until
exercise and risk-free interest rates. Although the assumptions used reflect management’s best estimates, they involve inherent
uncertainties based on market conditions generally outside of the control of the Company. If other assumptions are used, stock
option expense could be significantly impacted. As stock options are exercised, proceeds received on exercise are credited to
share capital.

h)

Revenue recognition:
Revenue from the sale of nickel concentrate is recognized when risk and title pass to the customer, the price is fixed and
determinable and collection of the proceeds is reasonably assured. The passing of title and risk occurs based on the terms of the
off-take contract. The price is based on the formula in the off-take contract that includes average listed price of the customer and
the price factor decided by the grade level of concentrate.

i)

Earnings per share:
The calculation of earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares issued and outstanding. Diluted
earnings per share are calculated using the treasury stock method which includes the effect of the exercise of dilutive elements.

j)

Use of estimates:
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amount of revenue and expense during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant estimates and assumptions are used when accounting for items
such as impairment of assets, determination of estimated useful lives of mineral properties and property, plant and equipment,
construction in progress and stock based compensation expense.

k)

Seasonality of operations:
The winter conditions in which the Company’s subsidiaries operate, coupled with Chinese Spring Festival holidays, temporarily
slow down the mineral ore concentration process. The quantities of finished goods produced for sale in winter are significantly
lower than the capacity of the Company’s facilities. The slow-down season is generally from January to early March of the
following calendar year.

l)

Asset retirement obligation:
The Company recognizes the fair value of liabilities for asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred and
in which a reasonable estimate of such costs can be made. The asset retirement obligation is recorded as a liability with a
corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related asset and depreciated over the life of the asset. Over time, the liability
is increased to reflect an interest element (accretion expenses) considered in its initial measurement at fair value. All the mine sites
are in desert area in Northern China and management believes that the liability after the mine site retirement is immaterial. The
amount of the liability will be subject to re-measurement at each reporting period. It is possible that the Company’s estimates of its
ultimate mine site retirement liabilities could change as a result of changes in regulations, the extent of environmental remediation
required, the means of reclamation or the cost estimates. Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively from the period
the estimate is revised.
The Company has not recorded a liability for its asset retirement obligations. Currently, the Company pays an annual
environmental fee to the local government for the cost of operating a processing plant. This fee is fixed as per the government
policy and is expensed as incurred.

m)

Financial Instruments:
Financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition. After initial recognition, financial instruments are measured
at their fair values, except for financial assets classified as held-to-maturity on loans and receivables and other financial liabilities,
which are measured at cost or amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

The Company has made the following classifications:
•

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term deposits are classified as “assets held for trading” and are
measured at fair value.

•

Other receivables and due from related parties are classified as “loans and receivables” and are recorded at amortized cost,
which upon their initial measurement is equal to their fair value. Subsequent measurements are recorded at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method.

•

Accounts payable, other payables and accrued liabilities and due to related parties are classified as “other financial liabilities”
and are initially measured at their fair value. Subsequent measurements are recorded at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Transaction costs are included in the initial carrying amount of financial instruments except for held-for-trading items in which case
they are expensed as incurred.

n)

Derivative Financial Instruments:
The Company recognizes derivative financial instruments on a fair value basis upon initial recognition and each subsequent
reporting date. The Company has classified its non-delivery forward contract with the banks held for trading and therefore
carries it at fair value, which is equal to market value, with the unrealized gain or loss recorded in other revenue or expenses in
the Consolidated Statements of Income. Cash deposits held by the banks for the forward contract are separately disclosed as
restricted cash in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

o)

Proportionate Consolidation:
For a venture that the Company and the other parties have joint control over and share both benefits and risks, the Company
accounts for its interest in this joint venture by proportionate consolidation, whereby the Company’s pro rata share of each of the
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses that are subject to joint control is combined on a line-by-line basis with similar items in
the Company’s financial statements.

p)

Equity Investment:
Investments in shares of incorporated companies, in which the Company’s ownership is greater than 20% but no more than 50%
and significant influence is present, are accounted for by the equity method. The Company accounts for its investment by the
equity basis, which is carried at cost, adjusted for the Company’s proportionate share of the undistributed earnings and losses.

q)

Comparative Figures:
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation as at and for the year ended December 31,
2008.

3.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Effective January 1, 2008, GobiMin adopted the new and amended Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) accounting
standards related to Financial Instruments-Disclosure (section 3862), Financial Instruments-Presentation (section 3863), Inventory (section
3031), Capital Disclosure (section 1535), and General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation (section 1400). As required by
the standards prior periods have not been restated except to reclassify the foreign currency translation adjustment as described under
Comprehensive Income and Equity.

Financial Instruments
Section 3862 “Financial Instruments-Disclosure” and Section 3863 “Financial Instruments-Presentation”, replace Section 3861 “Financial
Instruments-Disclosure and Presentation”. Section 3862 “Financial Instruments – Disclosure”, describes the required disclosures related
to the significance of the financial instruments on the Company’s financial position and performance and the nature and extent of risks
arising from financial instruments to which the Company is exposed and how the Company manages those risks. Section 3863 “Financial
Instruments – Presentation”, describes the standards for presentation of financial instruments and non-financial derivatives and carries
forward the presentation requirements of Section 3861 “Financial Instruments-Disclosure and Presentation”.

Inventories
Section 3031 “Inventories”, which replaces Section 3030 “Inventories”, requires inventories to be measured at the “lower of cost and
net realizable value”, which is different from the existing guidance of the “lower of cost and market”. It also provides guidance on the
determination of cost and requires the reversal of any write-downs previously recognized when the net realizable value increases
subsequently. Certain minimum disclosures are required, including the accounting policies used, carrying amounts, amount recognized
as an expense, write-downs, and the amount of any reversal of any write-downs recognized as a reduction in expenses. The adoption
of these new standards did not have any impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Capital Disclosure
Section 1535 “Capital Disclosure”, establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity’s capital and how it is managed.
These standards require a company to disclose their objectives, policies, and processes for managing capital along with summary
quantitative data about what it manages as capital. In addition, disclosures are to include whether companies have complied with
externally imposed capital requirements and when a company has not complied with capital requirements, the consequences of such
non-compliance.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation
Section 1400 “General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation”, describes the requirements for management to assess an
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to disclose material uncertainties related to events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The above noted new and amended standards have no material impact on the classification and measurement in the consolidated
financial statements.

New Canadian Accounting Pronouncements
a)

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
In February 2008, the CICA issued Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, which replaces Section 3062 “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” and Section 3450 “Research and Development Costs”. Section 3064 establishes standards
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill subsequent to its initial recognition and of
intangible assets. The new Section will be applicable to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for its fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this new section on its
consolidated financial statements and the management does not expect any impact.

b)

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
In January 2009, the CICA issued EIC 173 Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. This
guidance requires that an entity’s own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken into account
in determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities including derivative instruments. This guidance is
applicable to the Company’s 2009 fiscal year with retrospective application without restatement of prior periods. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this new guidance.

c)

Consolidations and Non-controlling Interests
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1601 “Consolidations” and Section 1602 “Non-controlling Interests”. CICA
1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. CICA 1602 establishes standards
for accounting for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated financial statements subsequent to a business
combination. These standards are applicable to interim and annual financial statements of the Company beginning on
January 1, 2011. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of these standards.

d)

Business Combinations
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1582 “Business Combinations” replacing Section 1581 “Business Combinations”.
The new section improves the relevance, reliability and comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in
its financial statements about a business combination and its effects. The section is applicable to the annual and interim
financial statements of the Company beginning on or January 1, 2011, with early adoption permitted. The Company is in
the process of evaluating the impact of this standard.

4.

DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS
During November 2008, the Board of directors approved the agreements on disposal of the Company’s equity interests in Yakesi and
Jubao, which represent substantial continuing operation of the Company. The assets and liabilities of Yakesi and Jubao are therefore
classified as discontinuing operations in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Since there is no other material operation after the disposal,
the operating results do not show the segregation of the operation results of Yakesi and Jubao.
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinuing operations are as follows:
December 31, 2008

December 31, 2007

ASSETS
Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Account receivable
Loan receivable
Prepayments and other receivables
Inventory
Mineral properties
Equity investments
Due from related parties

$

$

2,317,225
–
1,026,038
11,465,473
2,499,419
44,931,909
1,439,498
80,246

23,301,498
548,978
958,372
8,924,433
1,845,032
26,493,405
1,330,610
105,294

Assets of discontinuing operations

63,759,808

63,507,622
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

5.

December 31, 2008

December 31, 2007

$

$

LIABILITIES
Current
Accounts payable
Due to related parties
Other payables and accrued liabilities
Bank loan
Income tax payable
Future income tax liabilities

2,511,104
20,378
13,900,977
–
174,080
83,562

870,917
103,585
6,148,199
10,952,821
340,286
78,051

Liabilities of discontinuing operations

16,690,101

18,493,859

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2008 include cash in different locations as follows:
Bank location

Reporting Currency

Amount

US$ Equivalent

Canada
Hong Kong
China
Indonesia

CAD
HKD
RMB
IDR

251,223
99,708,820
276,619,220
6,861,969

205,147
12,865,322
40,545,981
623

Total

53,617,073

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2007 include cash in different locations as follows:
Bank location

Reporting Currency

Amount

US$ Equivalent

Canada
Hong Kong
China
Indonesia

CAD
HKD
RMB
IDR

797,831
158,757,839
178,525,773
206,023,222

807,405
20,353,639
1,140,511
21,883

Total

22,323,438

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Company is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorized to conduct foreign exchange business.
The fair market values of cash and cash equivalents approximate their carrying values at December 31, 2008.

6.

RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted cash comprises bank deposit to secure a currency forward contract (see note 15).

7.

MINERAL PROPERTIES

December 31, 2008
Buildings
Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles
Mineral exploration rights

December 31, 2007
Buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles
Mineral exploration rights
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Cost

Accumulated
Amortization/
Written off

Net
Book Value

$

$

$

121,445
290,458
89,371

(23,614)
(199,402)
–

97,831
91,056
89,371

501,274

(223,016)

278,258

1,859
14,414
275,309
1,344,044

(188)
(462)
(99,542)
–

1,671
13,952
175,767
1,344,044

1,635,626

(100,192)

1,535,434

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

During 2008, a carrying value of $1,233,160 for the Company’s exploration rights and related machinery in Indonesia were written
off, as the management believes there is no economic value for the exploration assets under the current market condition. There are
no significant commitments or payment requirements for any of the mineral properties except for those related to the discontinuing
operations (see note 21).
From time to time, management evaluates the estimated economic benefit derived from shaft construction relating to future mining
potential. Mine construction costs are written down as soon as it is determined that their carrying values may exceed their estimated net
recoverable amounts.

8.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS
Equity investments represent the Company’s equity interests in four joint ventures established in 2007.
During 2008, GobiMin, through its 100% owned subsidiary, Xinjiang Weifu Mining Limited (“Weifu”), increased RMB5,500,000 ($806,173)
its equity investment in two of the four joint ventures, Tongde and Tongxing, to explore nickel, copper, lead and zinc projects in Xinjiang
region. The Company’s equity interest in each of the four joint ventures continues to be 40%.
The Company accounts for its investments on the equity basis, which is carried at cost, adjusted for the Company’s proportionate
share of the undistributed earnings and losses of all the above joint ventures. During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company
recorded $6,116 as equity loss (2007: $446,291) on the investments.
There are no commitments in the four joint ventures.

9.

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE
During 2006, GobiMin formed a joint venture, Xinya, with Xinjiang Huaxin Minerals Ltd (“Huaxin”). GobiMin and Huaxin each acquired a
50% interest in Xinya by injecting RMB 1 million ($136,910) cash into this joint venture as paid-in capital. The joint venture is formed for
mining exploration and development in northwest China.
During 2008, the Company and Huaxin increased the paid-in capital in Xinya each by injecting RMB 4 million ($598,694) respectively.
The Company adopts the proportionate consolidation method to account for its interest in Xinya. The Company’s proportionate share of
its interest in and results from the joint venture as at and for the year ended December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Intangible assets – exploration right
Fixed assets
Other receivables
Other payables
Due to related parties

General and administration expenses
Net cash from (used in) operating activities
Net cash from (used in) financing activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes on cash

10.

December 31, 2008

December 31, 2007

$ 560,549
89,372
820
73,288
(585)
–

$ 1,098,987
46,611
–
51,136
–
(1,061,054)

723,444

135,680

2008

2007

(7,980)
(17,637)
(539,870)
(39,571)
66,620

(765)
24,106
1,019,125
(8,173)
7,959

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
a)

$71,347 (2007: nil) of due from related parties pertains to receivables from the Company’s joint venture, Tongxing, for Canadian
consulting services of its current exploration projects.

b)

$389,067 (2007: nil) of due from related parties pertains to receivables from the Company’s joint venture, Tongxing, for Chinese
exploration services of its current exploration projects.

The transactions with related parties during the year are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration
established and agreed by the parties. The balances with related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and due on demand.
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11.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Non-controlling interests represent the 6.45% (2007: 6.45%) equity interests in Yakesi, 4.84% (2007: 4.84%) equity interests in Jubao
and 35% (2007: 35%) equity interest in PT Gobi held by minority shareholders. During 2008, Yakesi and Jubao declared approximately
$5.8 million dividend, of which $368,615 (2007: $145,900) was payable to minority shareholders.

12.

OTHER REVENUE
The Company recognized $1,405,407 (2007: $2,219,118) other revenue this year, of which $758,528 (2007: $708,190) represents
interest income. The remaining portion of other revenue is generated from sales of oil and materials to contractors for mining operation
and subsidies from government.

13.

WRITE OFF OF ASSETS
During 2008, GobiMin wrote off $1,233,160 (2007: $44,340) exploration assets, which relates to PT Gobi’s exploration project, as the
management believes there is no economic value for the exploration assets under the current market condition. In addition, GobiMin
wrote off $210,361 (2007: nil) due from related parties on December 31, 2008 pertaining to loans to the minority shareholders of PT
Gobi, as the management believed the amount not collectible.

14.

WRITE-DOWN OF INVENTORY
As at December 31, 2008, GobiMin wrote down the inventory by $575,861 (2007: nil), reflecting the decreased metal price at the year
end.

15.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
At December 31 2008, GobiMin had an open position on a non-delivery forward contract with a bank of short selling RMB at exchange
rate of 6.986 for $7,000,000. The forward contract matured on March 10, 2009. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the unrealized
loss is $94,015.

16.

DEPOSITS RECEIVED
At December 31, 2008, GobiMin received $36,082,093 deposits regarding the sale of interest in Yakesi and Jubao (see note 4).

17.

DIVIDEND PAID
In May 2008, GobiMin paid its annual dividend of $2,174,197 (2007: $779,880) according to the Company’s dividend policy and 2007
annual financial performance.

18.

INCOME TAX
No provision for Canada and Hong Kong Income tax has been made as the Company has no assessable profits in either Canada or
Hong Kong during the year. There is no related future tax asset recognized either, as management believes that the operating loss in
Canada and Hong Kong cannot be recovered in future years.
Yakesi, a subsidiary of the Company established in China, was subject to a corporate income tax rate of 15%. Yakesi is eligible for
an exemption from a 3% regional tax rate and a 50% relief from the 30% state tax rate in China. Jubao, a subsidiary of the Company
established in China, was subject to two year tax holiday starting from 2007. After the two year tax holiday, Jubao is subject to a
corporate income tax of 15%.
On March 16, 2007, the National People’s Congress (NPC) of China approved the new Corporation Income Tax Law, which became
effective on January 1, 2008. The new law establishes a unified 25% tax rate for both domestic enterprises and foreign invested
enterprises. The new law will only be applicable to Yakesi and Jubao after the expiry of their current tax policy.
The Company’s provision for income taxes reported differs from the amounts computed by applying the cumulative Canadian federal
and provincial income tax rates to the earnings before taxation as a result of the following:

Profit before tax
Statutory tax rates
Tax charged at statutory tax rates
Tax rate difference
Permanent difference
Loss expiry
Change in valuation allowance
Tax rate change
Other
Withholding tax
Tax expense
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2008

2007

$814,735
33.5%

$23,204,982
36.12%

$272,936
(1,132,861)
706,455
72,383
530,930
–
123,636
330,312

$ 8,381,639
(7,013,052)
539,964
75,524
–
110,948
(221,431)
–

$903,791

$1,873,592

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

In November 2008, GobiMin’s two Chinese subsidiaries, Yakesi and Jubao, declared special dividend amounting to RMB43.89 million
(approximately $6.3 million). The Company recorded $330,312 withholding tax expenses according to China’s new tax regulation on
paying dividend to foreign shareholders.
Loss carryforwards and other temporary differences that give rise to future income tax assets (liabilities) as at December 31, 2008 and
2007 are as follows:
Future income tax assets
Canadian tax loss carryforwards
Unclaimed share issue costs
Valuation allowance
Excess of accounting base over tax base relating mineral rights and properties
Future income tax liabilities

2008

2007

$979,502
312,345

$727,671
479,227

1,291,847
(1,291,847)

1,206,898
(1,206,898)

83,562

78,051

$83,562

$ 78,051

At December 31, 2008, the Company had accumulated non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purpose of approximately $3,377,592
which will expire between 2009 and 2028.

19.

SHARE CAPITAL, WARRANTS AND STOCK OPTIONS
a)

Common Shares
Number

Amount
$

Authorized:
Unlimited number of common shares
Issued and outstanding:
Balance, December 31, 2006
Shares issued for cash from private placement
Shares issued for option exercise
Shares issued for warrant exercise

64,036,002
3,450,000
1,036,000
4,942,500

16,053,320
10,904,636
1,608,174
2,629,122

Balance, December 31, 2007

73,464,502

31,195,252

Shares buy-back and cancelled
Shares issued for option exercise

(3,236,100)
96,000

(1,374,980)
98,466

Balance, December 31, 2008

70,324,402

29,918,738

GobiMin did not issue or authorize any preferred shares.

b)

Contributed Surplus
Amount
Balance, December 31, 2006
Options & warrants exercised
Stock-based compensation expense

$
3,645,606
(714,626)
1,098,217

Balance, December 31, 2007

4,029,197

Charge from share buy back
Options & warrants exercised
Stock-based compensation expense

(95,580)
(37,577)
1,502,495

Balance, December 31, 2008

5,398,535
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Normal course issuer bid
On February 6, 2008, GobiMin announced that it intended to begin a normal course issuer bid to repurchase some of its common
shares on the TSX Venture Exchange. The Company intends to repurchase up to 3,673,225 common shares, representing
approximately 5% of the then common shares outstanding. Purchases were made in accordance with applicable regulations over
a maximum period of 12 months ending January 31, 2009. During 2008, a total of 3,236,100 common shares were repurchased
for an aggregate gross proceeds of CAD$3,688,637 ($3,460,255). All shares purchased are returned to treasury for cancellation
(see also note 28).
Escrowed Shares
27,532,500 common shares were placed in escrow in accordance with the escrow agreement dated September 30, 2005. The
escrow shares are subject to a three year term.
There was no share held in escrow at December 31, 2008.

c)

Stock options
On May 26, 2005, the Company adopted a resolution canceling all of its outstanding stock option plans and creating a new stock
option plan to grant options to its employees, directors and officers to purchase common shares. A number of 5,700,000 (2007:
5,700,000) common shares were reserved for issuance pursuant to the exercise of options to be granted under the plan.
A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan as of December 31, 2008, and changes during the year is presented
below:
2008
Number of Weighted Average
Options
Exercise Price

Number of
Options

2007
Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of year
Forfeited
Issued at January 31, 2008
Issued at March 10, 2008
Issued at August 25, 2008
Issued at February 12, 2007
Issued at August 2, 2007
Exercised

3,330,400
(103,400)
50,000
15,000
1,202,000
–
–
(96,000)

$
1.88
1.28
2.89
3.44
1.06
–
–
0.55

2,810,000
(45,000)
–
–
–
55,000
1,397,000
(886,600)

$
0.60
1.82
–
–
–
1.79
3.61
0.81

Outstanding, end of year

4,398,000

1.72

3,330,400

1.88

The following table summarizes the employee stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2008:

Exercise Price

Number of
Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of
Options
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$
0.55
0.95
1.66
1.79
3.61
3.61
2.89
1.06
1.06

1,604,400
10,000
150,000
5,000
875,000
506,600
50,000
840,000
357,000

(Years)
1.78
1.93
2.49
3.12
1.59
3.59
0.08
2.67
4.67

$
0.55
0.95
1.66
1.79
3.61
3.61
2.89
1.06
1.06

1,436,000
8,000
150,000
2,000
525,000
203,600
50,000
–
–

(Years)
1.78
1.93
2.49
3.12
1.59
3.59
0.08
–
–

$
0.55
0.95
1.66
1.79
3.61
3.61
2.89
–
–

4,398,000

2.36

1.72

2,374,600

1.90

1.61

In 2008, the weighted average fair value of options granted amounted to $0.67 (2007: $2.13) per option. The Company
determines fair value of the employee stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. In determining the fair value of
these employee stock options, the following assumptions were used:

Risk free interest rate:
Expected life:
Expected volatility:
Dividend yield:
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2008

2007

3.22%
1-5 years
90%
0-1%

4.0%
1 – 5 years
69.4%-90%
0 – 0.5%

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

d)

Warrants
2007

2008

e)

Warrants

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Warrants

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of year
Expired
Exercised

–
–
–

$
–
–
–

5,005,000
(62,500)
(4,942,500)

$
0.52
1.28
0.51

Outstanding, end of year

–

–

–

–

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Net earnings available to shareholders
Basic and diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic
Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants
Diluted
Earnings per share (basic)
Earnings per share (diluted)

20.

12 Months ended
December 31, 2008

12 Months ended
December 31, 2007

$32,267

$20,393,911

72,366,206
976,625
73,342,831

70,818,860
1,464,786
72,283,646

$0.00
$0.00

$0.29
$0.28

RESERVES
During 2008, there was no net earnings (2007: $3,378,618) of the Company’s subsidiaries in China transferred to general reserve. As
a result of the pending sale of its operating subsidiaries, the balance reserve of $6,144,537 at December 31, 2007 was transferred to
Retained Earnings.

21.

COMMITMENTS
As at December 31, 2008, there is approximately $24,152,667 (2007: $24,969,599) capital commitments that the Company had
contracted for, but not provided for. The commitments are for the sinking of the shafts, mine design, exploration, equipments, water
and electricity supply and other facilities. All the commitments belong to discontinuing operations and are no longer the Company’s
obligations following the sale of such subsidiaries in February 2009.
The Company entered into a purchase agreement to buy lead ore in the amount of $8,000,000 (2007: $ nil) for trading purpose. A
deposit of $234,000 was paid as at December 31, 2008 with respect to this purchase commitment. During 2008, no lead ore was
delivered by the seller and the seller did not deliver the lead ore when the purchase agreement expired on January 29, 2009. The
purchase commitment no longer exists after the agreement expired in January 2009.
The Company has approximately $23,620 (2007: $25,905) monthly office rental expense in its Hong Kong and Canada offices.

22.

TAX REFUND ON CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS
In 2008, the Company’s subsidiary in China obtained an approval from the China tax authority regarding approximately RMB5 million
($681,444) tax refund for the subsidiary’s reinvestment of retained earnings as its share capital. This tax refund was made pursuant to
China Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises Income Tax Law.

23.

SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company conducts its business as a single operating segment, being the development and exploitation of mineral properties. All
mineral property interests and capital assets are located in China, except for a very limited number of office equipments acquired in
Indonesia. All of the Company’s revenues are derived from Chinese sources (see also note 4).
The Company has only three customers over the period covered by these consolidated financial statements. The Company is able to
locate and secure other customers should the condition require.
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24.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
As at December 31, 2008, accumulated other comprehensive income was generated from unrealized gain on the translation to US
dollars of assets and liabilities of the Company’s self-sustaining subsidiaries, primarily due to the strengthening of RMB against US
dollars.

25.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, all financial instruments must be classified into a defined category, namely,
held-to-maturity investments, held-for-trading financial assets or financial liabilities, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial
assets, and other financial liabilities. The carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments are classified into the following
categories:

Held for trading (a)
Due from related parties (b)
Other financial liabilities (c)
Derivatives (d)
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

December 31, 2008

December 31, 2007

$ 54,107,033
460,414
36,534,145
94,015

$ 22,323,438
1,271,055
773,124
–

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are measured at fair value.
Due from related parties are measured at amortized cost.
Accounts payable, other payables and accrued liabilities, deposit received and due to related parties are measured at amortized cost.
Foreign exchange forward contract is measured at fair value.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments represents the amounts that would have been received from or paid to counterparties to settle
these instruments. The carrying amount of all financial instruments classified as current approximates their fair value because of the
short maturities and normal trade terms of these instruments. The fair value of other financial instruments disclosed in the financial
statements are based on the Company’s best estimates using present value, quoted market prices and other valuation techniques that
are significantly affected by the assumptions used concerning the amounts and timing of estimated cash flows and discount rates which
reflect varying degrees of risk.

Foreign exchange forward contract
The Company uses foreign exchange forward contract to manage risks associated with its foreign exchange risk. The Company has
entered into a non-delivery forward contract with a bank of short selling RMB at exchange rate of 6.986 for $7,000,000. The Company
does not otherwise engage in other hedging transactions with respect to our foreign exchange risk. A 1% exchange rate appreciation
(depreciation) of RMB against US dollar would have $70,000 decreased (increased) net income.

Risks arising from financial instruments and risk management
The Company is exposed to various types of market risks, including changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates, the prices of
nickel and copper, in the normal course of business. The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on mitigating these risks
on a cost-effective basis. The Company uses derivative financial instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign currency risk associated
with the RMB proceeds to be received in 2009. The Company’s policy is to only use derivatives for managing existing financial
exposures and not for trading or speculative purposes.

Exchange Rate Risk
The Company conducts its business primarily in RMB. All the sales were received in RMB. The Company translates its results of selfsustaining foreign operations into U.S. dollars using the current rate method. The majority of the Company’s operating expenses are
denominated in RMB, Hong Kong dollars and Canadian dollars. Substantial exposure to currency risk is on its net investment in selfsustaining foreign operations, for which foreign currency translation gains or losses have been recorded under accumulated other
comprehensive income.
Many foreign currency exchange transactions involving RMB, including foreign exchange transactions under the Company’s capital
account, are subject to foreign exchange controls and require the approval of the PRC State Administration of Foreign Exchange.
Developments relating to the PRC’s economy and actions taken by the PRC government could cause future foreign exchange rates
to vary significantly from current or historical rates. The Company cannot predict nor give any assurance of its future stability. Future
fluctuations in exchange rates may adversely affect the value, translated or converted into U.S. dollars of the Company’s net assets,
net profits and any declared dividends. The Company cannot give any assurance that any future movements in the exchange rates of
Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other foreign currencies will not adversely affect its results of operations, financial condition and
cash flows.
As at December 31, 2008, with other variables unchanged, a 1% strengthening (weakening) of the Chinese RMB against the Canadian
dollar would have increased (decreased) net income and other comprehensive income by $0.05 million and $0.3 million, respectively.
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Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk with respect to cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The carrying amount of assets
included on the balance sheet represents the maximum credit exposure. The cash equivalents are mainly short-term bank deposits.
None of the cash equivalents were in asset backed commercial paper products. The Company has deposited the cash equivalent
in banks that meet minimum requirements for quality and liquidity as stipulated by the Company’s Board of Directors. Management
believes the risk of loss to be remote.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. As at
December 31, 2008, the Company was holding cash and cash equivalents of $53,617,073. The Company has determined that the cash
and cash equivalents from previous financings will be more than sufficient to fund its requirements for investments in working capital and
capital assets. The total $36,534,145 financial liabilities are due within one year.

Interest Risk
Interest risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest
rates. The Company’s cash equivalents and short term investments primarily includes highly liquid investments that earn interests at
market rates that are fixed to maturity. Because of the short-term nature of these financial instruments, fluctuations in market rates do
not have significant impact on the fair values of the financial instruments as of December 31, 2008.

26.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company’s objectives of capital management are intended to safeguard the entity’s ability to support the Company’s normal
operating requirement on an ongoing basis, continue the development and exploration of its mineral properties, and support any
expansionary plans. The capital of the Company consists of the items included in shareholders’ equity. The Board of Directors does
not establish a quantitative return on capital criteria for management but promotes year-over-year sustainable earnings growth targets.
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In response to the current economic and financial environment, and the significant decline in the
prices of silver, lead and zinc, the Company is adopting a more conservative capital management strategy in order to preserve cash,
continue to generate positive cash flow from operation, and maintain a strong balance sheet.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

27.

ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE
The Company conducts its business as a single operating segment, being the development and exploitation of mineral properties. All
mineral property interests and capital assets are located in China. All of the Company’s revenues are derived from Chinese sources.

28.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
1.

On January 23, 2009, GobiMin announced that it intended to renew its normal course issuer bid to repurchase some of its
common shares on the TSX Venture Exchange. The Company intends to acquire up to an additional 3,516,220 common shares,
representing approximately 5% of the then common shares outstanding. Purchases are expected to be made in accordance with
applicable regulations over a maximum period of 12 months ending January 31, 2010. Up to April 16, 2009, a total of 374,800
common shares were repurchased for an aggregate gross proceeds of CAD$296,183 ($240,800). All shares purchased are
returned to treasury for cancellation.

2.

By February 11, 2009, the agreements in respect of the sale of the Company’s interest in Yakesi and Jubao were approved by
the Chinese government. The total sales proceeds the Company received are RMB492 million (approximately $72.0 million).The
Company also received RMB43.89 million (approximately $6.4 million) from dividend paid out by Yakesi and Jubao.

3.

On April 16, 2009, GobiMin declared an annual dividend of CAD$0.01 ($0.01) per share for 2008 according to its dividend policy
and a special dividend of CAD$0.07 ($0.06) per share following the disposal of its two Chinese operating subsidiaries. Both
dividends are payable on June 5, 2009 to shareholders of record on May 15, 2009.
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List of Group Companies
as at April 17, 2009

HELD DIRECTLY
Percentage
of equity
Issued &
Company Name

Place of Incorporation

paid-up capital

attributable to
the Group

Principal activities

Alexis Resources Limited

British Virgin Islands

US$10,000

100%

Investment holding

GobiMin Investments Limited

British Virgin Islands

US$1,000

100%

Investment holding

Canada

US$10,000

50%

Investment holding

Indominas Inc.

HELD INDIRECTLY
Percentage
of equity
Issued &
Company Name

Place of Incorporation

paid-up capital

attributable to
the Group

Principal activities

Alexis Investments Limited

Hong Kong, China

HK$1

100%

Investment holding

China Precision Material Limited

Hong Kong, China

HK$10,000

51%

Silver trading

Fine Asia Development Limited

Hong Kong, China

HK$100

100%

Provision of business
services

GobiMin Capital Limited

British Virgin Islands

US$1,000

100%

GobiMin Mineral Limited

Hong Kong, China

HK$100

100%

Investment holding
Metal ores trading

GobiMin Resources Limited

British Virgin Islands

US$1,000

100%

Investment holding

Indominas Hong Kong Limited

Hong Kong, China

HK$1,000

50%

Investment holding

(formerly “GobiMin Copper
Limited”)
Indominas Mining Limited

British Virgin Islands

US$10,000

50%

Investment holding

Karon Limited

Hong Kong, China

HK$1

100%

Investment holding

Multiwell Group Limited

British Virgin Islands

PT. Gobi Sulawesi Resources

Jakarta, Indonesia

Topmax Development Limited

British Virgin Islands

US$100

50%

Investment holding

US$600,000

65%

Exploration of nickel and

US$1,000

100%

Investment holding

associated minerals
Topwise Enterprises Limited

Hong Kong, China

HK$100

50%

Metal ores trading

Waybong Limited

British Virgin Islands

US$1,000

100%

Investment holding

Wreford Enterprises Limited

British Virgin Islands

US$1,000

100%

Investment holding

Xinjiang Mineral Investments Limited

British Virgin Islands

US$1,000

100%

Investment holding

Xinjiang Mineral Resources Limited

Hong Kong, China

Investment holding

HK$10,000

100%

Xinjiang Weifu Mining Limited

Xinjiang, China

RMB40,000,000

100%

Iron mining, processing and sales

新疆天宏礦業有限責任公司
(Xinjiang Tianhong Minerals Ltd.(1))

Xinjiang, China

RMB10,000,000

40%

Exploration of nickel and
copper

新疆同安礦業有限公司
(Xinjiang Tongan Minerals Ltd.(1))

Xinjiang, China

RMB5,000,000

40%

Exploration of gold and
copper

新疆同德礦業有限責任公司
(Xinjiang Tongde Minerals Ltd.(1))

Xinjiang, China

RMB10,000,000

40%

Exploration of nickel and
copper

新疆同興礦業有限責任公司
(Xinjiang Tongxing Minerals Ltd.(1))

Xinjiang, China

RMB20,000,000

40%

Exploration and exploitation
of copper

新疆興亞礦業有限責任公司
(Xinjiang Xinya Minerals Ltd.(1))

Xinjiang, China

RMB10,000,000

50%

Exploration of lead and zinc

(1)
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Certain statements included in this Annual Report constitute forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements can often, but not
always, be identified by the use of words such as “can”, “could”, “believe”, “propose”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “consider”, “estimate”, “expect”,
or other variations of such expressions, or forward-looking statements may declare that certain measures, events or results “can”, “could” or
“will” be taken or occur or be attained. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties as well as other
factors that could cause actual results, performances or achievements of the Company to differ materially from the future results, performances
or achievements implied or suggested in such forward-looking statements. Such risks, uncertainties and other factors include but are not limited
to the risk factors discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis. Accordingly, shareholders are
cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Annual
Report and the Company disclaims any obligations to update any forward-looking statements in order to account for any events or circumstances
that might occur after the date that such forward-looking statements were established.
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